Report 19-25 November 2019

Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program

Fiscal Year 2018-19

STATE OF WISCONSIN







Legislative Audit Bureau

Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program

Fiscal Year 2018-19

Joint Legislative Audit Committee Members

Senate Members:

Robert Cowles, Co-chairperson Chris Kapenga Alberta Darling Janet Bewley Tim Carpenter **Assembly Members:**

Samantha Kerkman, Co-chairperson John Macco John Nygren Melissa Sargent Katrina Shankland

Report 19-25 November 2019

State Auditor Joe Chrisman

Financial Audit Director Erin Scharlau

Auditor Thi Nguyen

Publications Designer and Editor Susan Skowronski

LEGISLATIVE AUDIT BUREAU

The Legislative Audit Bureau supports the Legislature in its oversight of Wisconsin government and its promotion of efficient and effective state operations by providing nonpartisan, independent, accurate, and timely audits and evaluations of public finances and the management of public programs. Bureau reports typically contain reviews of financial transactions, analyses of agency performance or public policy issues, conclusions regarding the causes of problems found, and recommendations for improvement.

Reports are submitted to the Joint Legislative Audit Committee and made available to other committees of the Legislature and to the public. The Audit Committee may arrange public hearings on the issues identified in a report and may introduce legislation in response to the audit recommendations. However, the findings, conclusions, and recommendations in the report are those of the Legislative Audit Bureau.

The Bureau accepts confidential tips about fraud, waste, and mismanagement in any Wisconsin state agency or program through its hotline at 1-877-FRAUD-17.

For more information, visit www.legis.wisconsin.gov/lab.



CONTENTS

Letter of Transmittal	1
Audit Opinion	3
Management's Discussion and Analysis	9
Financial Statement	13
Statement of Changes in Program Assets for the	
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018	15
Notes to the Statement of Changes in Program Assets	17
Auditor's Report	27



STATE OF WISCONSIN | Legislative Audit Bureau

22 East Mifflin St., Suite 500 ■ Madison, WI 53703 ■ (608) 266-2818 ■ Hotline: 1-877-FRAUD-17 ■ www.legis.wisconsin.gov/lab

Joe Chrisman State Auditor

November 20, 2019

Senator Robert Cowles and Representative Samantha Kerkman, Co-chairpersons Joint Legislative Audit Committee State Capitol Madison, Wisconsin 53702

Dear Senator Cowles and Representative Kerkman:

At the request of the Department of Natural Resources and the Department of Administration, and to help fulfill our audit responsibilities under s. 13.94, Wis. Stats., we have completed a financial audit of the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018. We have provided an unmodified audit opinion on the Statement of Changes in Program Assets, which includes the related notes and is presented on a cash basis of accounting.

Under the program, the State was authorized to issue \$386.9 million in revenue obligations to provide financing for payment of claims under the Petroleum Environmental Cleanup Fund Award (PECFA) program. The revenue obligations were not general obligations of the State. Instead, they were repaid primarily from the \$0.02 per gallon fee charged to suppliers of petroleum products received for sale in Wisconsin. These fees, which are collected by the Department of Revenue, totaled \$77.3 million in fiscal year (FY) 2018-19. Of this amount, \$25.9 million was retained by the trustee to pay principal and interest on outstanding obligations and \$51.4 million was deposited in the Petroleum Inspection Fund.

As of June 30, 2019, revenue obligations outstanding included \$27.2 million of the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds. These bonds were paid off on July 1, 2019, and with that payment, the program no longer has any revenue obligations outstanding. Pursuant to action by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission on August 7, 2019, the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program was terminated effective November 4, 2019. As a result of the termination of the program, a financial audit will no longer be required. Therefore, this is our final financial audit of the program.

We appreciate the courtesy and cooperation extended to us during our audit by staff of the departments of Natural Resources, Administration, and Revenue.

Respectfully submitted,

Yoe Chrisman
State Auditor

JC/ES/ss

Audit Opinion •



STATE OF WISCONSIN | Legislative Audit Bureau

22 East Mifflin St., Suite 500 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 266-2818 Hotline: 1-877-FRAUD-17 www.legis.wisconsin.gov/lab

Joe Chrisman State Auditor

Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements and Other Reporting Required by *Government Auditing Standards*

Senator Robert Cowles and Representative Samantha Kerkman, Co-chairpersons Joint Legislative Audit Committee

Mr. Joel Brennan, Secretary Department of Administration

Mr. Preston Cole, Secretary Department of Natural Resources

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying cash basis Statement of Changes in Program Assets, which includes the related notes, of the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management of the program is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Statement of Changes in Program Assets in accordance with the cash basis of accounting described in Note 2 to the financial statement. This includes determining that the cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the financial statement. Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Statement of Changes in Program Assets based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, which is issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the Statement of Changes in Program Assets.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Statement of Changes in Program Assets presents fairly, in all material respects, the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program's assets as of June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018, and the program's receipts and disbursements for the years then ended in accordance with the cash basis of accounting described in Note 2 to the financial statement.

Emphases of Matter

As discussed in Note 1 to the Statement of Changes in Program Assets, the financial statement presents only the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program and does not purport to, and does not, present fairly the financial position of the State of Wisconsin as of June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018, the changes in its financial position, or where applicable, its cash flows for the year then ended.

As discussed in Note 2 to the Statement of Changes in Program Assets, and in order to provide a meaningful presentation to the bondholders and noteholders regarding resources available to pay debt service, the program's policy is to prepare its financial statement on the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 10 to the Statement of Changes in Program Assets, the final scheduled debt service payment was made on July 1, 2019, for outstanding obligations of the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program. Pursuant to action by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission on August 7, 2019, the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program was terminated effective November 4, 2019.

Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Other Matters

The Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 9 through 12 is presented for the purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statement. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statement and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued a report dated November 15, 2019, on our consideration of the program's internal control over financial reporting; our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, and contracts; and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be used when considering the program's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

LEGISLATIVE AUDIT BUREAU

Yoe Chrisman State Auditor

November 15, 2019

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Prepared by Management of the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to provide users of the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program's Statement of Changes in Program Assets with a narrative overview of the statement, as well as an analysis of some key data presented in the statement. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statement and notes. The financial statement, notes, and this discussion are the responsibility of the program's management.

Overview of the Statement of Changes in Program Assets

The Statement of Changes in Program Assets of the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program is intended to show the changes in the program's assets for fiscal year (FY) 2018-19 and FY 2017-18. Accounting for the program is done outside the State of Wisconsin's central accounting system.

The Statement of Changes in Program Assets presents the program's receipts and disbursements on the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Under the cash basis of accounting, receipts are reported when received and disbursements are reported when paid. The program's assets and activities are presented on the cash basis of accounting to provide a meaningful presentation to bondholders and extendible municipal commercial paper noteholders regarding resources available to pay debt service. The notes to the financial statement provide additional

information that is essential for a full understanding of the data provided in the financial statement.

Noteworthy Financial Activity

The program originated in January 2000 pursuant to a State of Wisconsin Building Commission program resolution adopted on January 19, 2000, amended and restated on May 2, 2000, and further amended on July 30, 2003. The purpose of the program is to provide financing for the payment of claims under the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Environmental Cleanup Fund Award (PECFA) program, which is accounted for in the Petroleum Inspection Fund. The Building Commission may, from time to time, adopt supplemental resolutions authorizing the issuance of revenue refunding obligations and, subject to legislative authorization, additional revenue obligations for the purpose for which the program was created.

The State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program is administered jointly by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and the Wisconsin Department of Administration.

The program resolution establishes special trust funds and accounts, and establishes the fiduciary responsibilities that are to be undertaken by a trustee for the benefit of the bondholders, extendible municipal commercial paper noteholders, and holders of any other obligations that may be issued. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A. has been appointed as the trustee for the revenue obligations. The trustee is responsible for maintaining the trust funds in accordance with the program resolution.

As shown in Table A, the program's assets were \$28.1 million as of June 30, 2019, \$31.5 million as of June 30, 2018, and \$26.5 million as of June 30, 2017.

Table A

Program Assets

			Percentage Change 2018 to		Percentage Change 2017 to
	June 30, 2019	June 30, 2018	2019	June 30, 2017	2018
Restricted for Debt Service	\$28,140,567	\$31,488,791	(10.6)%	\$26,431,751	19.1%
Restricted for Other Purposes	2,844	3,445	(17.4)	88,811	(96.1)
Total Program Assets	\$28,143,411	\$31,492,236	(10.6)	\$26,520,562	18.7

Program assets restricted for debt service are available for the payment of principal and interest on revenue obligations and may be invested in direct obligations of the United States or held in demand deposit accounts. As of June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018, program assets including those restricted for debt service and other purposes, were split between investments and demand deposit accounts. As of June 30, 2019, June 30, 2018, and June 30, 2017, program assets restricted for debt service were primarily used to pay debt service payments scheduled for July 1, 2019, July 1, 2018, and July 1, 2017, respectively. These debt service payments included principal and interest due on outstanding petroleum inspection fee revenue refunding bonds.

The program's revenue obligations were issued pursuant to subch. II of ch. 18, Wis. Stats.; s. 292.63 (9m), Wis. Stats.; and the program resolution and supplemental resolutions adopted by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission. The revenue obligations are not general obligations of the State of Wisconsin. They are payable from, and primarily secured by, petroleum inspection fees charged to suppliers of petroleum products received for sale in Wisconsin. These fees are subsequently transferred to and received by the trustee. The fee amount imposed under s. 168.12 (1), Wis. Stats., has been \$0.02 per gallon since April 2006.

As of June 30, 2019, all statutorily authorized revenue obligations have been issued in the form of revenue bonds and extendible municipal commercial paper. Wisconsin Statutes had authorized the program to issue revenue obligations not to exceed \$386,924,000 in principal amount, excluding any obligations that have been defeased under a cash optimization program administered by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission. In addition to this limit on principal amount, the Building Commission may authorize the issuance of an unlimited amount of additional revenue obligations to fund or refund outstanding revenue obligations, pay issuance and administrative costs, make any necessary deposits to reserve funds, or pay accrued or capitalized interest. No revenue obligations have been issued since October 2016, when the State issued the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds in the amount of \$62.4 million. The proceeds of this issue were used, along with other funds on deposit with the trustee, to pay off all outstanding extendible municipal commercial paper.

As of June 30, 2019, revenue obligations outstanding included only \$27.2 million of the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds. These bonds have a maturity date of July 1, 2019. As of June 30, 2019, all funds required for payment of principal and interest due on July 1, 2019, were on deposit with the trustee.

The debt service coverage ratio, calculated as the ratio of petroleum inspection fees remitted by the State to the trustee divided by the senior debt service payments made during each fiscal year, excluding amounts related to bond refundings, was 2.61 in FY 2018-19 and 3.38 in FY 2017-18. The FY 2018-19 debt service coverage ratio was calculated based on \$77,298,352 in petroleum inspection fees remitted by the State to the trustee, and senior debt service payments of \$29,581,500. In FY 2017-18,

12 - - MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

the calculated ratio was based on \$79,761,760 in petroleum inspection fees remitted by the State to the trustee, and senior debt service payments of \$23,603,125.

Petroleum inspection fees not retained by the trustee for debt service and certain other costs are transferred from the trustee to the State. Petroleum inspection fee revenue, up to the amount authorized by statute, may be used to pay PECFA claims, PECFA administrative costs, and other costs and transfers, including optional transfers to the trustee for early redemption of revenue obligations. Petroleum inspection fees transferred to the State were \$51.4 million in FY 2018-19, \$51.1 million in FY 2017-18, and \$45.4 million in FY 2016-17, as shown in Table B.

Table B

Petroleum Inspection Fees

			Percentage Change FY 2017-18 to		Percentage Change FY 2016-17 to
	FY 2018-19	FY 2017-18	FY 2018-19	FY 2016-17	FY 2017-18
Petroleum Inspection Fees Remitted by the State to the Trustee	\$77,298,352	\$79,761,760	(3.1)%	\$76,644,662	4.1%
Petroleum Inspection Fees Retained by the Trustee	25,925,900	28,632,967	(9.5)	31,262,922	(8.4)
Petroleum Inspection Fees Transferred from the Trustee to the State	\$51,372,452	\$51,128,793	0.5%	\$45,381,740	12.7

Claims paid from the petroleum inspection fees transferred to the State totaled \$7.9 million in FY 2018-19 and \$6.1 million in FY 2017-18. No claims were paid from the proceeds of revenue obligations or any related interest and investment income during FY 2018-19, FY 2017-18, and FY 2016-17. All submitted claims had been reviewed and approved as of June 30, 2019. A provision of 2015 Wisconsin Act 55, the 2015-17 Biennial Budget Act, sunset the PECFA program. Landowners and others were required to notify the Department of Natural Resources of the potential for a PECFA cleanup site claim by July 20, 2015. All claims for reimbursement of cleanup costs must be submitted before July 1, 2020.

On July 1, 2019, the final scheduled debt service payment was made on the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fees Revenue Refunding Bonds. Pursuant to action by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission on August 7, 2019, the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program was terminated effective November 4, 2019.

Financial Statement •

Statement of Changes in Program Assets for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018

	Fiscal Year 2018-19		Fiscal Ye	Fiscal Year 2017-18	
Program Assets, July 1		\$ 31,492,2	236	\$ 26,520,562	
PLETING					
RECEIPTS					
Petroleum Inspection Fees Remitted by the State of Wisconsin to the Trustee Less: Petroleum Inspection Fees Transferred from the Trustee to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection	\$ 77,298,352		\$ 79,761,760		
Fund (see Note 7)	(51,372,452)		(51,128,793)	<u>_</u>	
Petroleum Inspection Fees Retained by the Trustee		25,925,9	900	28,632,967	
Interest and Investment Income		307,4	400_	28,886	
Total Receipts		26,233,3	300_	28,661,853	
TOTAL PROGRAM ASSETS AVAILABLE		57,725,5	536	55,182,415	
DISBURSEMENTS					
Dobt Sanisa (see Notes F and 9)					
Debt Service (see Notes 5 and 8): Senior Debt Service—Bond Principal	27,935,000		20,925,000		
Senior Debt Service—Bond Interest	1,646,500	20 501	2,678,125	-	
Total Senior Debt Service		29,581,5		23,603,125	
Other Costs			625	87,054	
Total Disbursements		29,582,1	125	23,690,179	
Program Assets Restricted for: Debt Service (see Note 4) Other Purposes (see Note 4)	28,140,567 2,844		31,488,791 3,445		
PROGRAM ASSETS, JUNE 30		\$ 28,143,4	111	\$ 31,492,236	

Notes to the Statement of Changes in Program Assets •

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM

The State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program originated in January 2000, pursuant to the State of Wisconsin Building Commission Program Resolution for State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations adopted on January 19, 2000, amended and restated on May 2, 2000, and further amended on July 30, 2003. The purpose of the program is to provide financing for the payment of claims under the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Environmental Cleanup Fund Award (PECFA) program. The program is administered jointly by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and the Wisconsin Department of Administration.

Pursuant to the program resolution, the State of Wisconsin Building Commission may occasionally adopt supplemental resolutions authorizing the issuance of revenue obligations up to the aggregate amount authorized by Wisconsin Statutes. As of June 30, 2019, all statutorily authorized revenue obligations have been issued. In addition, the Building Commission may occasionally adopt supplemental resolutions authorizing the issuance of an unlimited amount of revenue refunding obligations.

The program resolution establishes special trust funds and accounts, and establishes the fiduciary responsibilities that are to be undertaken by a trustee for the benefit of the bondholders and holders of any other obligations that may be issued. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A. has been appointed as the trustee for the revenue obligations. The trustee is responsible for maintaining the trust funds in accordance with the program resolution, which requires investments of trust fund balances to be in accordance with directives established by the program resolution. The

Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A. is also the registrar for the revenue obligations and issuing and payment agent for the revenue bonds.

When issued, proceeds from revenue obligations are held by the trustee until the Department of Natural Resources and the Department of Administration request the specific amounts be remitted to the State to pay PECFA claims. Petroleum inspection fee revenue obligations are payable from, and primarily secured by, petroleum inspection fees that result from a \$0.02 per gallon fee authorized in s. 168.12 (1), Wis. Stats., and imposed on suppliers of petroleum products received for sale in Wisconsin. Petroleum inspection fees are paid monthly by suppliers to the Wisconsin Department of Revenue, which subsequently forwards them to the program's trustee.

All revenues and assets of the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program are initially restricted for the purposes provided by the program resolution under which the revenue obligations are issued. The fees in excess of the amounts needed to meet debt service requirements and pay program administrative costs are transferred from the trustee to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fund. Subject to appropriation, the State uses the transferred fees to pay PECFA claims, PECFA program administrative costs, and other costs and transfers. In addition, an appropriation exists for the optional transfer of excess petroleum inspection fees to the trustee for early redemption of revenue obligations.

The Statement of Changes in Program Assets presents only the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program and is not intended to, and does not, present fairly the financial activity of the State of Wisconsin.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Statement of Changes in Program Assets presents the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program's receipts and disbursements on the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Under the cash basis of accounting, receipts are reported when received and disbursements are reported when paid. The program's assets may include cash, consisting of demand deposits held by the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A., and investments valued at historical cost. The program's assets and activities are presented on the cash basis of accounting to provide a meaningful presentation to bondholders and extendible municipal commercial paper noteholders regarding resources available to pay debt service.

3. **DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS**

The program is authorized by Wisconsin Statutes and the program resolution to deposit funds with the trustee. The program is also authorized by Wisconsin Statutes and the program resolution to invest funds restricted for debt service in direct obligations of the United States. Under s. 25.17 (3) (b), Wis. Stats., and as permitted by the program resolution, the program is authorized to invest funds not restricted for debt service in direct obligations of the United States, high-quality corporate commercial paper, certificates of deposit, and other investments.

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a financial institution, the deposits may not be returned. As of June 30, 2019, the demand deposit accounts with the trustee totaled \$7,558,958, of which \$250,000 was insured against loss by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and \$7,308,958 was not insured or collateralized. As of June 30, 2018, the demand deposit accounts with the trustee totaled \$209,586, which was insured against loss by the FDIC.

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of failure of a counterparty to a transaction, the program will not be able to recover the value of the investments that are in the possession of another party. As of June 30, 2019, the program held investments purchased for \$20,584,453 consisting of U.S. Treasury notes with a total face value of \$20,691,000. As of June 30, 2018, the program held investments purchased for \$31,282,650, consisting of U.S. Treasury notes with a combined total face value of \$31,357,000. These investments were registered and held by the program's agent in the program's name. Therefore, the program's investments were not exposed to custodial credit risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. Under the program resolution, the program is generally permitted to invest in investments with maturities of one year or less. As of June 30, 2019, the investments held by the program had a fair market value of \$20,691,000. U.S. Treasury notes in the face amount of \$20,691,000 to be used for scheduled debt service payments on July 1, 2019, mature on June 30, 2019. As of June 30, 2018, the investments held by the program had a fair market value of \$31,340,170. U.S. Treasury notes in the face amount of \$29,003,000, to be used for scheduled debt service payments on July 2, 2018, mature on June 30, 2018. U.S. Treasury notes in the face amount of \$90,000, to be used for scheduled debt service payments on January 1, 2019, mature on December 31, 2018. U.S. Treasury notes in the face amount of \$2,264,000, to be used for scheduled debt service payments on July 1, 2019, mature on June 30, 2019.

The program does not have a specific policy related to custodial credit risk or interest rate risk.

4. PROGRAM ASSETS

Program assets required to be held in the various interest and principal redemption accounts at the trustee and the issuing and paying agent are reported as program assets restricted for debt service. Program assets in excess of those restricted for debt service are available for other uses as outlined in the program resolution.

As of June 30, 2019, the program's assets totaled \$28,143,411. Of this amount, \$28,140,567, consisting of investments and demand deposits, was restricted for debt service. The remaining \$2,844, consisting of demand deposits, was restricted for transfer to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fund or to pay administrative costs of the program.

As of June 30, 2018, the program's assets totaled \$31,492,236. Of this amount, \$31,488,791, consisting of demand deposits, was restricted for debt service. The remaining \$3,445, consisting of demand deposits, was restricted for transfer to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fund or to pay administrative costs of the program.

5. REVENUE OBLIGATIONS

The program's revenue obligations are issued pursuant to subch. II of ch. 18, Wis. Stats.; s. 292.63 (9m), Wis. Stats.; and the program resolution and supplemental resolutions adopted by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission. The revenue obligations are payable from, and primarily secured by, petroleum inspection fees that suppliers are charged on petroleum products received for sale in Wisconsin (see also Note 7). The revenue obligations are not general obligations of the State.

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, and June 30, 2019, the following changes occurred in revenue bonds outstanding:

Change in Revenue Bonds Outstanding

Fiscal Year	Balance July 1	Bonds Issued	Principal <u>Redeemed</u>	Balance June 30
2017-18	\$76,055,000	\$0	\$20,925,000	\$55,130,000
2018-19	55,130,000	0	27,935,000	27,195,000

The senior revenue bonds issued by the program and outstanding as of June 30, 2019, were as follows:

Senior Revenue Bonds

Date Issued	<u>Series</u>	Interest <u>Rates</u>	Maturity <u>Through</u>	First Optional Redemption Date	Amount <u>Issued</u>	June 30, 2019 Amount <u>Outstanding</u>
10/20/2009	2009 Series 1	3.0 to 5.0%	7/1/2017	Not Callable	\$117,460,000	\$ O
10/13/2016	2016 Series 1	4.0 to 5.0%	7/1/2019 Total Se	Not Callable nior Revenue Bonds	<u>62,445,000</u> \$179,905,000	<u>27,195,000</u> \$27,195,000

The 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

The program's future debt service requirements as of June 30, 2019, for principal and interest for the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds are as shown in the following table.

Future Debt Service on Revenue Bonds

Fiscal Year	Principal	Interest	Total Debt Service
Ending June 30	<u>Amount</u>	<u>Amount</u>	on Bonds
2020	\$27,195,000	\$543,900	\$27,738,900

Additional series of senior bonds may be issued on parity with the current bond series outstanding and collateralized by an equal lien on the petroleum inspection fees. However, no additional series, other than refunding bonds may be issued unless, among other things, additional legislative authorization is provided and the debt service coverage ratio, as defined in the program resolution, is at least 2.0.

On September 19, 2016, Standard & Poor's Ratings Services affirmed its rating on the State's petroleum inspection fee revenue bonds at "AA." On August 29, 2018, Fitch Ratings affirmed its rating on the State's petroleum inspection fee revenue bonds at "AA."

6. DEBT AUTHORITY FOR THE PROGRAM

As of June 30, 2019, all statutorily authorized revenue obligations have been issued. Wisconsin Statutes had authorized the program to issue revenue obligations not to exceed \$386,924,000 in principal amount, excluding any obligations that have been defeased under a cash optimization program administered by the State of Wisconsin Building Commission. In addition to

this limit on principal amount, the Building Commission may authorize the issuance of an unlimited amount of additional revenue obligations to fund or refund outstanding revenue obligations, to pay issuance and administrative costs, to make any necessary deposits to reserve funds, or to pay accrued or capitalized interest.

7. PETROLEUM INSPECTION FEES

Petroleum inspection fees result from the fees imposed under s. 168.12 (1), Wis. Stats., and other payments received under s. 292.63 (4) (h) 1m., and (5) (a) and (c), Wis. Stats. Under s. 168.12 (1), Wis. Stats., a \$0.02 per gallon fee is imposed by the State on suppliers of petroleum products received for sale in Wisconsin. The per gallon fees are paid to the State of Wisconsin Department of Revenue by suppliers, along with motor fuel taxes, and are initially deposited into the Transportation Fund. The Department of Revenue determines the amount collected for the per gallon fees and remits it to the program's trustee on a monthly basis. The trustee transfers petroleum inspection fees in excess of the amount needed to meet debt service requirements and to pay administrative costs of the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fund, free of the first lien pledge of the program resolution. The State uses the fees transferred to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fund to pay PECFA claims, PECFA program administrative costs, and other costs and transfers, including optional transfers to the trustee to redeem revenue obligations.

The other petroleum inspection fees that are pledged currently consist of penalty payments made under s. 292.63 (4) (h) 1m., Wis. Stats., by consultants for submitting claims for ineligible costs; proceeds under s. 292.63 (5) (a), Wis. Stats., from the sale of remedial equipment and supplies that had originally been paid for by PECFA awards; and net recoveries under s. 292.63 (5) (c), Wis. Stats., related to the Wisconsin Attorney General's actions against fraudulent claims. In fiscal year (FY) 2018-19, these other petroleum inspection fees totaled \$112,880. In FY 2017-18, these other petroleum inspection fees totaled \$53,197. These fees were not transferred to the trustee in either fiscal year because no deficiencies that would require the transfer of the fees existed in any of the program's accounts held by the trustee as of June 30, 2019, or June 30, 2018.

The two tables that follow show the amounts of petroleum inspection fees that were remitted by the State of Wisconsin Department of Revenue to the trustee, retained by the trustee to meet debt service requirements and pay Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program administrative costs, and transferred by the trustee to the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fund during FY 2018-19 and FY 2017-18.

FY 2018-19	Petroleum		
	Inspection Fees Remitted by the State	Petroleum Inspection Fees Retained	Petroleum Inspection Fees Transferred by the Trustee
<u>Month</u>	to the Trustee	by the Trustee	to the State
July 2018	\$ 8,569,201	\$ 2,356,900	\$ 6,212,301
August	4,282,497	2,356,900	1,925,597
September	7,009,770	2,356,900	4,652,870
October	6,978,628	2,356,900	4,621,728
November	4,727,165	2,356,900	2,370,265
December	8,788,838	2,356,900	6,431,938
January 2019	8,657,576	2,356,900	6,300,676
February	4,822,103	2,356,900	2,465,203
March	5,389,583	2,356,900	3,032,683
April	5,207,837	2,356,900	2,850,937
May	7,127,937	2,356,900	4,771,037
June	5,737,217	0	<u>5,737,217</u>
Total FY 2018-19	<u>\$77,298,352</u>	\$25,925,900	<u>\$51,372,452</u>

Pursuant to program resolution requirements, all petroleum inspection fees required for payment of the final debt service payment on July 1, 2019, were retained by the trustee with the monthly remittance that occurred in May 2019. Therefore, the trustee did not retain any petroleum inspection fees in June 2019.

FY 2017-18 Month	Petroleum Inspection Fees Remitted by the State to the Trustee	Petroleum Inspection Fees Retained by the Trustee	Petroleum Inspection Fees Transferred by the Trustee to the State
July 2017	\$ 6,996,626	\$ 2,327,917	\$ 4,668,709
August	8,277,890	2,327,917	5,949,973
September	5,764,620	2,327,916	3,436,704
October	7,902,249	2,327,917	5,574,332
November	6,464,039	2,327,917	4,136,122
December	6,178,215	2,327,916	3,850,299
January 2018	6,382,031	2,327,917	4,054,114
February	3,803,070	2,444,350	1,358,720
March	9,656,432	2,511,684	7,144,748
April	5,887,048	2,511,683	3,375,365
May	6,095,700	2,512,933	3,582,767
June	6,353,840	2,356,900	3,996,940
Total FY 2017-18	<u>\$79,761,760</u>	<u>\$28,632,967</u>	<u>\$51,128,793</u>

8. DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO FOR SENIOR DEBT

There are alternative methods to calculate debt service coverage. For purposes of additional analysis, the debt service coverage ratios for senior debt for FY 2018-19 and FY 2017-18 follow. They are calculated as the ratio of petroleum inspection fees remitted to the trustee during the respective fiscal years, divided by the senior debt service payments made during each fiscal year, excluding amounts related to bond refundings.

Debt Service Coverage Ratio for Senior Debt

	Fiscal Year 2018-19		Fiscal Year 2017-18	
Fees Remitted to the Trustee		\$77,298,352		\$79,761,760
Senior Debt Service:				
Principal—Bonds Interest—Bonds	\$27,935,000 1,646,500		\$20,925,000 <u>2,678,125</u>	
Total Senior Debt Service		29,581,500		23,603,125
Debt Service Coverage Ratio for Senior Debt		2.61		3.38

9. PECFA CLAIMS

The Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program was established during FY 1999-2000, and bonds and extendible municipal commercial paper were issued to reduce a backlog that had accumulated because, at that time, approved PECFA claims significantly exceeded the petroleum inspection fee revenues available to pay them. While the original backlog has been eliminated, PECFA claims continue to be submitted to the State.

2015 Wisconsin Act 55, the 2015-17 Biennial Budget Act, sunset the PECFA program. Landowners and others were required to notify the Department of Natural Resources of the potential for a PECFA cleanup site claim by July 20, 2015. All claims for reimbursement of cleanup costs must be submitted before July 1, 2020. PECFA claims paid were \$7.9 million in FY 2018-19 and were \$6.1 million in FY 2017-18.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 1, 2019, the final scheduled debt service payment was made on the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds. This payment totaled \$27,738,900, including \$27,195,000 in principal and \$543,900 in interest. As of the date of this payment, there are no outstanding obligations under the Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program. As a result,

petroleum inspection fees are no longer transferred to the trustee. Instead, they are deposited into the Petroleum Inspection Fund.

On August 7, 2019, pursuant to the program resolution, the State of Wisconsin Building Commission adopted a resolution terminating the program resolution for State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations. This action terminates the program resolution upon the date on which the trustee assigns, transfers, and turns over to the State the amounts on deposit in funds and accounts created under the program resolution. Pursuant to written direction provided to the trustee on October 24, 2019, these actions occurred on November 4, 2019, and \$687,358 was transferred from the trustee to the State for deposit in the Petroleum Inspection Fund. On that date, the program resolution was terminated and the pledge of petroleum inspection fees and the security interest in the funds and accounts under the program resolution ceased, terminated, and became void.

As required by Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 148 and related U.S. Treasury Regulations, an arbitrage rebate calculation was performed when the 2016 Series 1 Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds matured. No arbitrage rebate was required to be paid to the federal government.

Auditor's Report ■



STATE OF WISCONSIN | Legislative Audit Bureau

22 East Mifflin St., Suite 500 = Madison, WI 53703 = (608) 266-2818 = Hotline: 1-877-FRAUD-17 = www.legis.wisconsin.gov/lab

Joe Chrisman State Auditor

Report 19-25

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters

Senator Robert Cowles and Representative Samantha Kerkman, Co-chairpersons Joint Legislative Audit Committee

Mr. Joel Brennan, Secretary Department of Administration

Mr. Preston Cole, Secretary Department of Natural Resources

We have audited the cash basis Statement of Changes in Program Assets and the related notes of the State of Wisconsin Petroleum Inspection Fee Revenue Obligations Program as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019, and June 30, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated November 15, 2019. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, which is issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the program is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting (internal control). In planning and performing our audit of the Statement of Changes in Program Assets, we considered the program's internal control to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statement, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the program's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the program's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent misstatements, or to detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the program's financial statements will not be prevented, or that a material misstatement will not be detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the program's financial statement is free from material misstatement, we performed tests of compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, and contracts, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

Purpose of This Report

This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be used when considering the program's internal control and compliance. The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the program's internal control or on compliance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

LEGISLATIVE AUDIT BUREAU

Yoe Chrisman
State Auditor

November 15, 2019